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Family for Every Child is a global alliance of local civil society organisations 
working together to improve the lives of vulnerable children around the world.
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Welcome to the latest Family 
for Every Child Annual Report.

Introduction

This last year has been a period of continued growth and reach for Family. Through ideas, 
inspiration, and action, we’ve been working hard to develop and share innovative new 
ways to help children and families to have a brighter future. 

Our unique structure as a global alliance of locally-based organisations means that all 
the work we do is led by what our expert members are seeing ‘on the ground’. As a 
result, instead of deciding on ideas for change in a remote head office, our member 
organisations are fully engaged in developing ideas where they’re going to be used. Our 
philosophy is clear – these are the people who best know what’s needed, and they are 
the ones working with children and families every single day.

Through close collaboration, these members are creating solutions to challenges in their 
unique contexts; whilst being united in an effort to tackle global challenges. In this last 
period, these challenges have included sexual violence, children on the move, supporting 
kinship care, and more. This report highlights some of the outputs that this collaboration 
and shared learning has led to.

The alliance is currently comprised of 35 members in 32 countries, and new members 
are being scoped right now to expand it even further. But together we are more than the 
sum of our parts. When we come together as one, we can make others pay attention 
in ways that would not be possible separately. The alliance model helps us to influence 
the powerful forces shaping our world through research, campaigns and advocacy, and 
doing it together amplifies our message. This means that children directly reached by our 
member organisations are not the only ones that benefit; because we are creating ripples 
that extend further than the alliance itself. In doing so, we are making confident strides to 
our goal – to improve the lives of children, wherever they are.
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Family's members are united 
towards a common vision: a 
world where every child can 
grow up in a permanent, safe, 
and caring family, supported by 
temporary, quality alternative 
care where needed. 

The change we want to see 
Our vision and goals

We work together on 5 shared goals:

Enabling children to grow up in permanent, 
safe and caring families

Ensuring a range of high-quality, appropriate 
alternative care choices for children

Taking steps to prevent children from living outside 
of any adult care, without the care of families or carers, 
and protecting these boys and girls in the interim

Promoting better and more participatory 
decision-making about children’s care

Building strong child protection systems that strengthen 
families and promote quality care for children
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How we are making change happen 
Our strategic objectives

Our current organisational strategic period (2017-
2020) focuses on progressing two of our key goals: 
(i) enabling children to grow up in permanent, 
safe, and caring families and (ii) ensuring a range 
of high-quality alternative care choices. Family is 
working together to achieve these goals, guided by 
three strategic objectives:

Strategic objective 1: 
Leveraging the power of local civil society to 
improve children’s care

Strategic objective 2: 
Joining forces for enhanced impact

Strategic objective 3: 
Strengthening the alliance

Strategic objective 1 
Leveraging the power of local civil society to 
improve children’s care

By 2020, we would like to be 
recognised as the leading 
global alliance of local civil 
society organisations working 
to strengthen families and 
provision of children’s care.

With this in mind, members of Family across 32 countries are working on further developing 
the capacity of civil society to care for children at local and national levels.

As part of our efforts, we have:

A) Promoted knowledge exchange and practice

A.1. Provided opportunities for collaborative learning

Specific achievements included:

• Support for Muhammadiyah’s efforts to pilot foster care in Indonesia following 
the Foster Care Technical Workshop we co-convened with Save the Children

• Member participation in the Care in Islamic Contexts Working Group 
(see page 29) to exchange knowledge on foster care, which led to the drafting 
of a Practice Guide on Foster Care in Islamic Contexts

• Hope Village Society in Egypt held its first ever interagency meeting, including 
government, to review the foster care system

• Children with Disabilities Working Group (see page 29) exchanged practice on 
different aspects of working with children with disabilities, which will lay the 
foundation for their future work together 
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Face-to-face meetings of working groups also provided a good opportunity for practice 
exchange. For example, the Children on the Move Working Group met in San Francisco 
(USA) and took the opportunity to visit the Immigration Court and local legal services 
providers (e.g. shelter, therapeutic, and legal services to children). The learnings and 
reflections from these visits will inform the way the programmes and advocacy evolve. 

The past year also saw a number of successes in terms of practice exchange 
and networking, including:

• Significant steps towards consolidating our working groups (cross-regional 
groups of alliance members by theme of interest/expertise) and confirmation 
that these are a strong mechanism for exchanging practice, which can lead to 
tangible actions within the network

• Member-initiated ideas through independent networking and direct engagement 
(e.g. bilateral discussions with other alliance members and/or Secretariat staff)

• Practice exchange triggered through collaboration with other agencies, which will be 
further nurtured through our reinvigorated approach to interagency collaboration

• Buddy visits – an opportunity for new members to see first hand how other 
members are participating in Family for Every Child – provided a strong 
mechanism for practice exchange and led to strong outcomes, as we are seeing 
through Outcome Harvesting (see page 32)

• Online events, which are open to organisations outside Family for Every Child, 
were a key mechanism for promoting our practice outside of the network/
alliance to influence the work of others and wider outcomes for children

Plans for the coming year include strengthening our approach to buddy visits, 
member communications, and open events, including external communications 
surrounding events.

A.2. Strengthened skills in research and advocacy 

Key achievements in 2018-19 included developing a stronger approach to communicating 
our research findings through the development and dissemination of key messages and 
online events. This year saw increased promotion and support for the National Advocacy 
Programme to support advocacy capacity among Family’s members.

Lessons learned during the year included the realisation that we need to further embed 
action in our research projects to best harness the capacities of children, families, and 
community members and ensure uptake of our research findings. Family’s members 
need to invest more in analysis and report writing, as well as strengthening capacities in 
this area. We must also explore the value of research and leverage the research products 
emerging this year, which will support stronger advocacy initiatives and enhance our 
power to influence stakeholders and policy-makers.

Plans for the coming year include:

• Stronger web content for research and advocacy products
• New member induction to provide basic orientations on the approach to and 

essential knowledge and skills for research, advocacy, and family care
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Family provided requested support to three member organisations in the U.S., Mexico, and 
Guatemala to design and implement participatory research with children on the move in 
the region using the PhotoVoice method. The research will enable a better understanding 
of their experiences of movement and inform recommendations on policy and practice 
change at community, agency, and government levels to make movement safer. This was 
informed by discussions with international experts on children on the move and an initial 
scan of existing research in this area.

In March 2019, this group met with other members to review the findings of the document 
scan and plan the research project. The findings will be available in early 2020 and will 
inform the second stage of this initiative to engage the youth researchers in advocacy 
for safer movement, for which a concept note has been drafted and submitted to 
donors. Members in the other sub-groups of the Children on the Move Working Group 
(see page 295) will use the learning from this project to develop further participatory 
projects to protect children on the move in further countries and regions.

B.2 Sexual violence

This topic continues to be significant for Family’s members, and 22 members 
are working together on seven different areas of focus:

• Primary research on sexual violence affecting boys (four members in Asia)
• Primary research on sexual violence affecting boys (two members in Africa)
• Secondary prevention of sexual violence for at-risk groups including boys (global)
• Advocacy on caring for boys affected by sexual violence (regional, national, 

and global)
• Sexual violence in residential care institutions
• Testing tools on problematic sexual behaviour
• Sexual violence affecting children with disabilities
• Child protection (including sexual violence) in religious institutions

The RISE Learning Network (see page 19) hosted a webinar on Caring for Boys and 
shared the scoping study among its members. Four members in Asia have prepared 
national reports based on their in-country research. This year, Family’s members used 
support from the alliance to expand the Caring for Boys primary research in South Africa 
and Zimbabwe. This will feed into the wider work on sexual violence affecting boys, as 
well as our United for Boys global campaign (see page 20).

B.3 Reintegration

13 Family members have been working together to adapt and test practical tools that 
were developed by other members in their own contexts. One group is evaluating 
and adapting the monitoring and evaluation tools from the RISE project for use with 
reintegration projects, while another is field testing the reintegration training manual from 
CINDI (our South African member), which is based on the 2016 inter-agency guidelines 
that Family developed. A third member is piloting therapeutic approaches to reintegration 
learned from JUCONI (our Mexican member). Family provided investment and training for 
staff at each member organisation to develop their own tools and frameworks.

• Further exploration of approaches to action research through PhotoVoice 
and the development of a research toolkit for Secretariat staff, members, and 
consultants — this will also serve to ensure stronger coordination of research 
and that research standards are upheld

A.3. Engaged in programme piloting and documentation

This period saw new initiatives in programme piloting, including the Reintegration 
and Sexual Violence Working Groups, as described later in the report (see page 29). 
We have also made plans to better document and share the practice of Family’s members 
through the How We Care series, which will gather innovative practice and share it with 
other practitioners through a variety of media, both within and outside of Family. 
 
Our expectation is that pilot projects on a larger scale may be most attractive to supporters 
and funders. We will need to embed strong monitoring and evaluation into our existing 
pilot projects to ensure that we can demonstrate a track record of impact and learning 
through our approaches to piloting. In the coming year, we will launch the How We Care 
series, embed monitoring and evaluation across the Alliance Programme, and incorporate 
lessons learned from the ongoing pilots into programmes.

 
 
B)  Developed new ideas for joint initiatives to 

improve children’s care policy and practice

There were a number of investments into Family member projects during 
2018-19, including the following highlights:

B.1 Children on the Move

Children move for a variety of reasons, voluntarily or involuntarily, within or between 
countries, with or without their parents or other primary caregivers. Their movement, 
while it may open up opportunities, might also place them at risk (or at an increased risk) 
of economic or sexual exploitation, abuse, neglect, and violence.

Alongside the risks faced by children on the move, the scale of this phenomenon 
makes it a priority for Family.

• There are 50 million children on the move in the world today, according to 
UNICEF estimates

• 100,000 unaccompanied minors will have arrived at the US-Mexico border by 
September 2019, according to projections from US Customs and Border Protection

 
There are 50 million children on the move in the 
world today.
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C)  Developed national civil society networks on 
children’s care to foster civil society dialogue and 
engagement in national policy making

Included among highlights this year is the work of Zimbabwean member FOST on 
promoting kinship care, focusing on strategies to enhance the acknowledgement and 
recognition of kinship care as a well-assessed, supported, and documented practice in 
the country. This included community advocacy on kinship care.

Kinship care awareness-raising 
meetings were attended by 589 
children, youth, and parents.

The community responded well to the call of supporting kinship care practices and the 
relevant Chief requested that FOST train local Case Care Workers to enhance their skills 
and knowledge to support and monitor children and families in kinship care. In partnership 
with Plan International, Save the Children, and Zimbabwe National Council for the Welfare 
of Children, FOST supported two regional meetings discussing issues affecting children 
in need of family care and protection, targeting 143 participants representing over 60 
national and international CSOs.

Family’s members ChildLinK (Guyana) and CBRJ (Jamaica) made good progress 
in implementing their advocacy work:

• Actively working to create a national and regional network on protecting children 
with disabilities in the Caribbean

• Reviewing documentation from previous attempts and will continue identifying 
potential network members in dialogue with local organisations

• CBRJ is working with parents aiming at resuscitating the National Advocacy 
Network for Parents of Children with Disabilities

Seven Family members received advocacy training and strategy development support 
during the reporting period. CAP (Liberia) and Challenging Heights (Ghana) were trained 
on advocacy, together with partners of Challenging Heights. Together, they have put 
together a joint advocacy strategy on corporal punishment/care in schools, which will 
include (i) peer-to-peer support; (ii) learning visits; and (iii) individual/context-based 
advocacy activities at community, district, and national/policy levels.

In order for Family for Every Child members to enhance their convening power consistently 
and effectively, the National Advocacy Programme allows for structured collaborative 
planning across contexts.

Three key actions will heighten the credibility of the alliance as influencers 
and change-makers nationally, regionally and, eventually, globally:

• Reviving the parent-led network in Jamaica
• Strengthening the sexual violence network in Guyana through the mainstreaming 

of disability
• Strengthening the Child Protection network in Zimbabwe to focus more on 

kinship care

The national advocacy initiatives will be important foundations and form a strong basis for 
Family’s global campaigns (see page 20). Joint advocacy strategising is also proving to be 
a good space for discussion of programmatic ideas for future joint actions.

D)  Built strategic relationships and grew our sphere 
of influence with partners including government 
agencies, other practitioners and CSO networks, 
research partners, and professional bodies

Over the past year, Family has further defined its approach and plans for effective interagency 
collaboration, and the Board approved a position paper. This area encompasses our 
strategic partnerships with other organisations, which aim to deliver specific impact, 
income, or influencing goals. In addition to relationships with non-member organisations 
at a national level, which will form part of the wider Family network, these partnerships 
will play a significant role in bringing about the change Family is seeking, particularly in 
terms of scale and reach.

Specific achievements included:

• Engaging in a collaborative effort to support the drafting of the UN General 
Assembly’s 2019 resolution on the Rights of the Child report (on children without 
parental care) and development of key messages and advocacy

We have learned that collaboration 
of members across countries 
allows for rich sharing and builds 
blocks for future mentoring and 
peer-to-peer support in influencing 
policy makers, practitioners, and 
communities.
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• Participating in the Geneva-based inter-agency working group on children 
without appropriate parental care, including discussions to build our partnership 
with key organisations within that group, particularly Better Care Network

• Developing a partnership with Child Frontiers and discussions of a joint funding 
proposal for a research project together

• Participating in the Advocacy Task Force of ECPAT’s global initiative on sexual 
exploitation of boys and contributing to the strategy under development, which 
helped to inform Family’s United for Boys campaign (see page 20)

• Planning an international conference on therapeutic care and research with the 
International Centre attached to UK member Mulberry Bush and their partner, 
the Institute of Recovery from Childhood Trauma

We are refining our list of potential strategic partners and allocating relationship 
holders to lead relationship management plans with each of them. Potential 
strategic partners include:

• Regional level partners
• Organisations that relate to our model of networking or work with civil society 

organisations, funding organisations, and programme-specific organisations 

We are also looking into key potential partners on our thematic focus areas, as 
well as at an international level, including:

• Global Partnership to End Violence Against Children;
• Global Social Service Workforce Alliance due to its practitioner focus; and
• ISPCAN and Changing the Way We Care due to the potential to influence the 

care focus of these organisations/projects.

We expect that these partnerships will give Family for Every Child a stronger insight into 
what other organisations are planning and where there are gaps that we can fill. We also 
expect that maintaining these partnerships more actively will lead to stronger outcomes 
for children, and lead us towards our goals.



Trustees’ Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019Trustees’ Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019 1918

Strategic objective 2: 
Joining forces for enhanced impact 

By 2020, Family for Every Child 
will have supported substantial 
improvements in children’s care 
policy and practice at local 
and national levels across a 
wide range of countries where 
members work.

Using this evidence base, Family’s members will be effectively collaborating to influence 
wider policy change at both regional and international levels.

We will achieve this by:

• Implementing 3-5 ambitious joint initiatives (including campaigns) at any one 
time, focused on a set of core thematic priorities

Through these initiatives, we will:

• Test and roll out approaches to improving children’s care;
• Strengthen the practice of care practitioners working directly with the most 

vulnerable children and families;
• Collaborate within and across regions to influence key policymakers and target 

specific improvements or reform at national, regional, and international levels; 
and

• Develop impactful campaigns to ensure that families and the care and protection 
of children are put first for the wellbeing of children and wider society.

Examples of work in this area over the reporting period include:

Learning Network project promoting learning on recovery and 
reintegration from child sexual exploitation (RISE)

The online platform enabled sharing and exchange of locally-generated and -applied 
resources to support children in alternative care, as well as in the facilitation of their 
reintegration into families and communities. Among these 1500, 95 senior level experts, 
representing local civil society organisations and regional networks across the 
regions of Latin America, Sub-Saharan Africa, and South and Central Asia, were engaged 
in RISE-facilitated learning projects to generate evidence-based learning to strengthen 
recovery and reintegration services for children.

Significant learning is coming out of this initiative, such as:

• Investing in integrating monitoring and evaluation systems or results-based care 
services enhances organisations’ capacities to track and better understand 
the effectiveness of programmes and helps identify the common gaps in 
reintegration programming

• Meaningful and ethical participation of young people affected by child sexual 
exploitation in research and advocacy is possible and significantly strengthens 
practice and policy changes 

Based on the high interest and motivation of the RISE community and the significant 
learnings from the first phase of RISE, which formally (some components have continued) 
concluded in September 2018, Family for Every Child drew up a proposal for a second 
phase; with a focus on children’s participation in research and advocacy. Funding request 
proposals were submitted to Oak Foundation, Terre des Hommes Netherlands, and Latin 
American Children’s Trust. Meanwhile, the online platform of RISE is being continued 
through Family’s unrestricted funding.

Our online learning platform 
(including website and social 
media), RISE has engaged 1500 
practitioners, organisations, 
networks, researchers, and 
other experts in the field of child 
sexual exploitation and other 
related child protection issues.
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United for Boys campaign 

All around the world, millions of children – girls and boys 
alike – are affected by sexual abuse, exploitation and 
harmful behaviours. All children deserve a childhood free of 
these threats.

Extensive research has shown us that – whilst girls continue 
to be the group principally affected by sexual violence 
(including sexual abuse, exploitation and harmful sexual 
behaviour), it is also a large-scale problem for boys. In 
fact, it is estimated to affect 1 in 6 worldwide. Evidence 
also leads us to believe that boys significantly under-report 
their experiences, so numbers could be even higher. And 
because boys and girls have different experiences and 
needs when it comes to sexual violence, we need to ensure 
that we are working to support them both.

Thankfully, a range of initiatives already exist to help girls, and whilst more work still needs 
to be done, many parts of the world have no services available for boys at all. United For 
Boys is an effort to start changing this situation so we can work towards having services 
that can support all children, regardless of gender, whilst understanding and celebrating 
their differences.

Following the global scoping study “Caring for Boys Affected by Sexual Violence” that 
Family for Every Child conducted in 2018, the last months of the reporting period saw 
us work on the design of our first ever global campaign called “United for Boys,” which 
focuses on care for boys affected by sexual violence. The campaign combines public 
awareness raising with systemic change. It calls on everybody — women and girls, men 
and boys, professionals and the public, young and old — to take action and to include 
the narrative of sexual violence affecting boys (along with girls) in the discourse of sexual 
violence against children.

Drawing from the global study recommendations and the advice of the members 
of the Sexual Violence Working Group (see page 29), the campaign will focus on 
six principles:

1. Raising awareness and training to strengthen the skills of professionals working 
closely with children so they can provide boy-friendly support services alongside 
services for girls

2. Ensuring that all services for children are designed in gender-inclusive way to cater 
to the specific needs of boys and girls equally

3. Providing easily accessible and safe information to educate children and families on 
sex, sexual health, sexuality, and internet safety

4. Advocating for changes in legal system to ensure boys affected by sexual violence 
are better protected and not criminalised

5. Changing the narrative around culturally-embedded harmful social norms
6. Challenging damaging media narratives around sexual violence against boys and 

generating productive ways to frame the issue. 

The campaign launched in July 2019 and aims to reach out to external stakeholders, 
including civil society organisations, networks, and other individual experts and academics 
working on issues of children, gender, humanitarian contexts, and all other relevant and 
related issues. In addition, the campaign targets donors and supporters in an effort to 
channel resources to highlight the issue of sexual violence against boys and for supporting 
both boys and girls affected by sexual violence.

Global and cross-regional influence

Family for Every Child is part of an interagency group that is leveraging the 2019 UNGA 
Resolution on the Rights of the Child, together with the report of the Secretary-General, 
as an important opportunity to place children without parental care on the global agenda. 
The advocacy group is also taking the opportunity to document and share reflections 
on progress made in preventing unnecessary family-child separation and providing 
appropriate alternative care, recommending specific actions to strengthen care reforms 
at national and international levels.

The agencies involved drafted a document with key recommendations to the UN General 
Assembly, seeking primarily to ensure that the 2019 Resolution on the Rights of the Child 
reflects a commitment to some of the world’s most vulnerable children, and ensuring 
that children without parental care are included. The proposal seeks to include these 
recommendations in the Secretary-General’s 2019 Report on the Rights of the Child.

Going forward, this work will be focused on members collaborating with other agencies 
on national level advocacy, as well as opportunities to influence at the global level and 
present our work as case studies of improving practice.

Through United For Boys, 
Family for Every Child focuses on 
a significantly under-recognised 
and often taboo issue related to 
children's care, demonstrating 
our commitment to speak out 
on controversial, hidden, 
or marginalised issues.
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Research and pilots

Through our participatory research with children and caregivers, we have been 
able to make well-informed contributions to improvements in children’s care. 
During the reporting period, we published research into children’s care within 
family contexts through two publications:

• Who Cares? Child and family perspective on effective care, who provides it and 
why it matters

• ‘Losing the care of your parents is equal to losing your life’: Findings from digital 
stories in Colombia, Guatemala, Indonesia, Rwanda and Zimbabwe

These publications were issued with key messages, including the importance of 
considering the wider family — not just the parent-child dyad — in care reform efforts 
and the need to recognise culturally- or context-specific elements of effective care. The 
digital storytelling project also provided compelling and moving narratives on the need to 
involve children in decisions affecting their lives. 

We also completed research into sexual violence affecting boys, which provided 
members with a stronger voice on subjects such as:

• Sexual violence and greater knowledge on how boys are affected
• Dynamics of harmful sexual behaviour
• Gaps that exist in supporting boys who are sexually abused or exploited and 

children who are actors in harmful sexual behaviour

We are exploring ways to make our research more action-oriented from the 
design stage, to ensure uptake of the findings and to increase the potential for it to 
be externally supported. Plans are underway for participatory research that will lead to 
children on the move from Central America becoming advocates using the PhotoVoice 
action research methodology. 

As an alliance, we have a strong track record with piloting approaches, such as the 
JUCONI (Mexico) model, in other countries and regions. This period marked the start of 
work piloting monitoring and evaluation and case management tools through Family’s 
Reintegration Working Group. The case management tools originated in South Africa 
via Family member CINDI, where they have been taken up as standard tools by the 
government in one province. This demonstrates the potential for wider uptake and 
associated improvements to children’s care in other member countries. 

In the coming period, Family for Every Child plans to pilot approaches to working with 
children who display abusive sexual practices or harmful sexual behaviour. These 
approaches were developed by Paicabi, a member in Chile; and will be piloted by Taller 
de Vida in Colombia, CONACMI in Guatemala, and JUCONI in Mexico. Family also 
plans to establish approaches to addressing harmful social norms to support children at 
heightened risk of sexual violence (secondary prevention). The Sexual Violence Working 
Group is leading both of these initiatives.
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Strategic objective 3: 
Strengthening the alliance 

During the current strategic 
period 2017-20, we aim to 
grow the alliance from its 
current size to between 
40-50 members.

Growing our membership

Greater scale will increase our capacity for joint action and our ability to achieve 
substantial policy and practice change. Our growth will be strategic, targeting key gaps 
in our expertise and knowledge base and expanding our geographic footprint to ensure 
critical mass at a regional level and in areas where we can have significant impact.

Three new members joined Family in 2018-19, bringing the total membership to 
35 members from 32 countries:

Zefie (Germany)

• Care-focused organisation that provides tailored 
support to strengthen children and families in Germany

• Has an emergency foster care programme, small-group 
homes for teenagers, and outreach support

• Leader in supporting children who arrive in Germany as 
refugees from other regions, such as the Middle East 
and North Africa

KoRoot (South Korea)

• Raises awareness about issues surrounding intercountry 
adoption and promotes alternatives, including family 
strengthening services and domestic adoption

• Collaborates with other volunteer groups in Korea 
to lobby for the country’s adoption law to meet 
international standards

• Raises awareness about the rights of unwed mothers and 
works to reduce the stigma they face in society

New Alipore Praajak (North-Eastern India)

• Focuses on child protection issues such as unsafe 
migration, child trafficking, child sexual abuse, early 
and forced marriages, and child labour

• Supports children, families, and communities through 
family reunification

• Works extensively with boys and men on gender 
discrimination

One member organisations left Family during the reporting period following a strategic 
decision to re-focus their work to national only.

In 2019/20, Family will scope at least eight new members in the following countries and 
regions: Sri Lanka, Bangladesh, Greece, Senegal, Pacific Islands, USA, and Central Africa.

We have also started to develop relationships/partnerships with a wider network — 
a group of external national/local civil society organisations (and individuals), think tanks, 
universities, or research institutions. The aim of these relationships is to complement 
members’ engagement and jointly leverage efforts to positively influence children’s care 
and protection at national, regional, and international levels.

The main mechanisms for wider network engagement include: 

• Engagement on a campaign;
• Sharing thematic, geographical, and care expertise;
• Sharing functional expertise, especially in the case of universities and think 

tanks; and
• Being strong individual advocates for Family for Every Child and our messages. 

An example of one of the streams we will develop within the wider network in 2019-20 is 
the Lived Experience Platform. This will be a platform for organisations and individuals 
who have experience growing up in different care settings to come together and become 
an advisory body for Family for Every Child, as well as join our global advocacy efforts. 
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Consolidating the Alliance Programme 

The 2018-19 reporting period saw a strong emphasis on consolidating Family’s Alliance 
Programme, which supports practice exchange, collaboration, and joint initiatives 
across the alliance. The programme receives support from a range of communication 
channels, including: our Members’ Site; Facebook and WhatsApp groups; and mailings 
providing updates on Family, technical and sector news, as well as information regarding 
opportunities, funding, and events.

The Alliance Programme includes six elements, of which three are covered under strategic 
objectives 1 and 2: (i) national advocacy, (ii) joint action projects, and (iii) inter-agency joint 
actions projects. The other elements are: (iv) ideas and questions, (v) open events, and 
(vi) working groups.

a) Ideas and questions

This is to be renamed ‘Ideas and actions’ to strengthen the emphasis on 
taking action together. The programme provides members with opportunities 
and support to explore ideas with other members and the Secretariat; and 
to share findings from new research, pilot projects, or initiatives. Highlights 
in 2018-19 included:

• Supporting our member in Rwanda to develop an approach to narrative therapy, 
share practical tools, and explore the organisation’s potential to develop a peer-
to-peer, cross-regional counselling service for children who have experienced 
significant inter generational trauma.

• Hosting an ideas and project development workshop in Nairobi involving 
members from Ethiopia, Ghana, Kenya, Liberia, Rwanda, and Zimbabwe 
to explore priorities under four of Family’s current thematic working areas: 
reintegration, kinship care, children on the move, and education and care.

• Ensuring the member most experienced in working with children with disabilities 
in Jamaica could attend, present, and represent Family at the UN Human Rights 
Council’s 40th Session in Geneva.

• Enabling a learning exchange workshop between members in Egypt and the UK 
on education programming for children with highly specialised needs.

• Supporting members in Kenya and Brazil to attend conferences, including 
Juconi’s Global Congress in Mexico and IACHR’s conference on adolescent 
detention in USA, to broaden their exposure to alternative models of practice.

• Adding to Family’s understanding of kinship care by supporting further research 
on the topic with a UK-based member.

• Publishing Alliance in Action, the regular member newsletter.

Ideas & 
Questions 

Six elements form the Alliance Programme:

These are supported by the Secretariat through four key workstreams:

The Alliance Programme results in the following outputs:

Online 
Events 

National 
Advocacy

Working 
Groups

Joint 
Actions 

Training and 
programme 
guidance

Research 
findings and 

evidence

Pilot models 
of innovative 

practice

Resources e.g. 
guidelines, 

standards and 
tools

Joint 
positions 
& policies

Joint advocacy 
asks, campaigns 

& networks

Technical 
assistance

International 
representation

Conceptual 
and practice 

learning

Member 
recruitment

Programme 
support

New member 
orientation

Member 
communications

This includes:
• Members’ site
• Facebook group
• WhatsApp group
• Email channels
• Regular mailings

Inter-agency 
Joint Actions

Connecting 
members to 

facilitate knowledge 
exchange and 

shared learning

Knowledge 
sharing through 

an annual 
webinar series

Developing 
strategies to 

make national 
change happen

Working groups 
focus on specific 
thematic areas

Members unite to 
undertake 
time-bound 
projects with 

donor funding

Collaborations 
with other 

agencies and 
Family members

As part of our new strategy Family is introducing a comprehensive programme 
to support the many ways in which members can learn, exchange practice, 

collaborate, design projects, and achieve impact on children’s care. 

The Alliance Programme
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b) Open Events Programme 

Family’s global bi-annual Forum took place in Istanbul in September 2018 and was a 
great success, attended by 33 out of the 34 members (at the time). Feedback from the 
Forum showed that the majority of members found the event critical to allow a valuable 
exchange of knowledge and collaboration between members, helped them to understand 
Family’s strategy and the ways they can engage in the Alliance Programme, and helped 
them contribute to the development of joint actions benefiting children around the world. 

In June 2018, Family launched its first programme of online events, featuring 
four events open to all members: 

• Trauma of Migration with Legal Services for Children (in English and Spanish)
• Community Based Child Protection with Uyisenga ni Imanzi (with Spanish interpreting)
• Behaviour as Communication with Mulberry Bush (with Spanish interpreting)

Furthermore, these events were open to members and external participants: 

• Kinship Care in Brazil, with ABTH and external speakers from the Ministry of 
Citizenship and ACER Brazil (English and Portuguese)

• New research on family care with FOST, JUCONI, and external speakers from 
Child Frontiers

In collaboration with the RISE Learning Network, Family also implemented events on the 
sexual violence theme. Reviews of the first programme show that participants found the 
events highly useful, including for their content on kinship care and practitioner experience. 

In the new year, we will launch the second programme of events with topics such as 
Children on the Move and Children in Conflict with the Law, as well as incorporate events 
linked to the How We Care series. We will also revise the Open Events process design 
to incorporate lessons learned from the first programme of events, implementation of 
an extended online Family Week event and a face-to-face event, and ideas from new 
members of staff and the new Knowledge Management Coordinator. We will also be 
focusing on enhanced promotion of our online events in order to reach more participants.

c) Working groups

Members are participating in a range of working groups to delve deep into 
specific thematic areas and achieve a real difference in children’s lives. The 
overall aim of our working groups is to:

• Enable members to develop and exchange ideas and learning on specific themes;
• Establish a range of priorities to be addressed and develop approaches, tools, 

and resources;
• Generate ideas for joint action projects; and
• Strengthen members and their collective voice to influence wider large-scale 

external change for children at national, regional or international levels.

In 2018-19, there were eight active working groups and a further one in formation.

Working Group Main achievements in 2018-19 and plans for the coming year

Sexual Violence and Care 
21 member organisations

The global scoping study on sexual violence affecting boys was completed 
and published widely. Four members in Asia – Butterflies (India), Voice of 
Children (Nepal), Centre for Prevention and Treatment of Child Sexual Abuse 
(Philippines), and First Step (Cambodia) – initiated and nearly completed the 
four-country primary research focusing on sexual violence affecting boys, 
driven by the recommendations from the global study. The study design is 
currently being adapted for a similar two-country research study in Africa by 
FOST (Zimbabwe) and CINDI (South Africa).

Children on the Move 
12 member organisations

The group agreed on the initial terms of reference and work plan, which 
includes work in four regions and a unifying campaign, as well as the 
definition and scope of the concept of children on the move. This will 
inform the collection of case studies, blogs, and practice examples for an 
establishing campaign on this theme; with advocacy in countries and regions 
to follow. The working group held its first extended face-to-face meeting and 
presented to all members at the Forum in Istanbul. Two other face-to-face 
meetings are expected to take place in 2019-20. 

The Central America sub-group designed and started fundraising for a 3-year 
advocacy project, which will follow participatory research in early 2020. The 
group started the year by issuing a public statement on the U.S. President’s 
Zero Tolerance Policy and will continue into next year with further public 
advocacy on this issue. The group also attended conferences in Brussels, 
London, and Brazil to build Family for Every Child’s profile in these areas 

During the reporting period, this working group welcomed new members 
from Nepal, Rwanda, Germany, Lebanon, and Turkey, bringing the group 
to 12 members. 

Education and Care 
11 member organisations

The group has worked together to collect and share tools that they are using 
within their education projects, while also planning to expand focus areas on 
the issues of informal education and disability and education.

The Agents for Change sub-group shared evidence-based models of practice 
and identified emerging ideas. They are now working towards developing 
collaborative approaches to improve education and protection policy-making 
to fully prioritise the care and safety of children in learning environments.

Similarly, the Positive Discipline sub-group shared its programmatic expertise 
on this topic with the goal of developing more accessible and practical tools 
for teachers in resource-constrained environments who are expected to stop 
using corporal punishment.

Reintegration 
13 member organisations

Members of the Reintegration Working Group have shared best practices with 
each other and are developing a theory of change for reintegration based on 
the context of each member country. In a face-to-face meeting, members 
developed a concept note for a joint action project. 

Members received training in monitoring and evaluation of reintegration using 
some of the tools tested by a large number of organisations that are part of 
the RISE learning network.



Trustees’ Annual Report and Financial Statements 201930

Children with Disabilities 
7 member organisations

The group held a number of learning sessions, including:

• the context of children with disabilities;

• the scientific and economic rationale for supporting early development;

• family care for children with disabilities;

• guidance for frontline workers in low- and middle-income countries;

• learning on rehabilitation services; and

• increasing the capacity of rehabilitation services.

Each session brought about emerging themes that will form the basis of 
joint action discussions in the upcoming face-to-face meeting — using the 
USAID Guide, Kyrgyzstan’s rehabilitation service programme, and Jamaica’s 
approach to supporting early detection and health support services to explore 
the creation of a Disability Mainstream Guide for Family and an external 
audience, for example. After the meeting, the group will hold a webinar for 
Family, showcasing the outputs and outcomes of the learning sessions and 
sharing the Disability Mainstream Guide plans with other members.

Therapeutic Approaches 
12 member organisations

Members systematically shared and discussed the specific approaches 
being used in their respective organisations. Some members have developed 
their practices for years based on well-grounded theories and attracted 
the interest of other members to use these approaches. Based on the in-
house documentation prepared by group members, we will document these 
approaches in a way that others can adapt and use, and potentially start a 
community of practice. In a face-to-face meeting, members will develop an 
action plan for the coming months.

Care in African Contexts 
7 member organisations

All 7 members in the group completed their first drafts of the kinship care 
research. The national reports will be synthesised into a regional report, 
and both reports will form the foundation for evidence-based advocacy 
and possible national-level pilot activities that will seek to entrench the 
acknowledgement and recognition of kinship care as an alternative care 
option for children and families.

Six of the seven members are implementing reintegration advocacy strategies 
at the national level. As the research begins to take shape, members will seek 
to link the use of reintegration guidelines as a tool and guide for supporting 
families who take in children as kinship carers. 

Care in Islamic Contexts 
6 member organisations

The group supported individual members in Egypt, Kyrgyzstan, and Indonesia 
in taking next steps in implementing foster care in their countries. There 
has been much engagement with influential people and agencies in these 
countries with respect to family-based care, particularly in Egypt, Kyrgyzstan, 
and Turkey. The members developed a guide on foster care using their 
knowledge and case studies, with plans to use this guide for training of 
social work force and advocacy with influential people and agencies in the 
region. A face-to-face meeting is planned to develop an advocacy strategy for 
individual members, as well as for the region.

Children in Conflict With the 
Law

We are in the process of forming a new group, which will be established 
next year. It will look at the links between children in conflict with the law 
and care. As part of this working group, members will be able to explore 
different models of practice, as well as engage in learning through knowledge 
exchange and joint research. They will also be able to engage in joint 
advocacy work on issues of prevention, alternatives to detention, quality of 
care within detention, and the specific needs of children in conflict with the 
law linked to reintegration back to their families and communities. 
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Planning, Monitoring, Evaluation, 
and Learning (PMEL)

Family’s PMEL Framework was drafted and finalised during this reporting period, clarifying 
Family’s approach to assessing the efficiency, effectiveness, and impact of the alliance. 
Family’s work on PMEL addresses monitoring of progress against our strategic objectives 
and plans, and reporting on various achievements internally and externally. An action 
learning approach is adopted in all the processes.

The PMEL Framework includes three main processes:

1. Strategic review and development, taking place every four years together with a
network evaluation.

2. Annual review of outcomes from the Alliance Programme using the outcome
harvesting technique. An attempt is also being made to compliment this with other
M&E methods to capture the outcomes of the programme work and engagement of
members with a specific emphasis on learning.

3. Operational Planning and Monitoring review, which is largely done in the Secretariat
planning period (cross-secretariat and by teams). The Secretariat prepares the
financial model, operational plans, and budgets for Board approval. Performance
metrics, staff performance, and learning and development plans are also reviewed.

PMEL has several outputs. These are:

• Four-year strategy with strategic objectives to deliver Family’s five shared goals
• Financial model covering four-year financial parameters for the strategy period
• Annual Operational Plan and Budget
• Annual Alliance Programme Plans, to include national advocacy plans, strategic

partnership plans, event plans, scoping plans, etc
• Quarterly and annual management accounts and budget forecasts
• Operational performance metrics reviewed every six months by the Board
• Outcome Harvesting Report
• Annual Trustees’ Report and Accounts

Outcome harvesting is critical to our PMEL work, and it’s central to the PMEL strategy 
as our preferred method. It’s described as 'harvesting’ because, unlike a typical project 
evaluation that looks for and evaluates only the expected outputs and outcomes of 
a project compared to a baseline, this approach looks back from identified changes 
(or fruits) to find out what seeds (inputs) planted earlier — possibly one, two, or more 
years ago — may have contributed to them.

The seeds of change may have 
been scattered far and wide, 
and may have borne fruit in 
unexpected ways and places.

Members and Alliance Programme staff engaged to understand the methodology and 
ensure the necessary resources to harvest outcomes. The members’ harvested outcomes 
were quality tested to make sure the specific change in a specific actor/s was captured 
and that the outcome was significant, with a notable contribution from both the member 
and the broader alliance. The outcomes were then analysed against the alliance goals 
and a report written for members and an external audience. 

During the coming year, we will follow a similar process, and in addition we will substantiate 
50% of the outcomes to ensure they are credible. The Secretariat will reflect with an 
outcome harvesting expert on integrating outcome harvesting into the rest of the PMEL 
and harvesting the outcomes throughout the year. At the present time, we are working on 
harvesting our outcomes for 2017-18.

A full report will be published, including the following examples:

Outcome 1: Stakeholders using positive disciplining methods

Description: Since early 2019, people at home, in schools, and in religious centres have 
been using positive discipline methods with children in Winneba (Ghana).

Significance: Corporal punishment is a serious issue in Ghana.

Contribution: Building on the Member Initiative Fund project on positive discipline, 
the Family Secretariat facilitated advocacy training with Challenging Heights. Several 
key stakeholders, including teachers and religious leaders, cooperated and participated 
in strengthening the national strategy.
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Outcome 2: Adaptation of reintegration guidelines in Ghana

Outcome description: Between January and March 2019, UNICEF and the Department 
of Social Welfare in Ghana adopted the principles from the Reintegration Guidelines into 
their Standard Operating Procedures and case management forms.

Significance: There were no standard reintegration monitoring forms for collecting data 
on children rehabilitated and reintegrated in their communities by the Department of 
Social Welfare.

Contribution: Supported by Family, Challenging Heights facilitated a workshop on 
standardising reintegration and monitoring tools. UNICEF was one of the key participants. 
The workshop focused on ensuring the principles from the Reintegration Guidelines 
were fully captured in UNICEF case management forms and the Standard Operation 
Procedures developed earlier by the International Organisation for Migration.

Outcome 3: Cooperation agreement between CONACMI and 
Secretariat of Social Welfare department of Guatemala

Outcome description: In August 2018, the Secretariat of Social Welfare department 
of Guatemala signed a cooperation agreement with CONACMI to receive technical 
assistance throughout the process of creating and implementing indicators for the 
protection of children in residential shelters.

Significance: This is a key step in the construction and implementation of public 
policies for the comprehensive protection of institutionalised children. This work has been 
recognised as a starting point by the Human Rights Commission in Guatemala, as well as 
by the inter-institutional technical advisory group that provides technical assistance to the 
Social Welfare Secretariat, of which the Inter-American Children's Institute and CONACMI 
are part.

Contribution: Family member organisations were initially called upon to provide 
technical assistance in 2016 and, since then, have contributed significantly to this. 
Our member, CONACMI, has worked with different officials of the three branches of 
the State of Guatemala and provided technical assistance. Members were invited to be 
part of an inter-institutional working group to support the process of deinstitutionalisation 
in Guatemala.

Outcome 4: Armed groups and border security find solutions for 
children to live normal lives

Description: The Lebanese border security and other armed groups are now allowing 
children to live normal lives by finding solutions to their problems through joining camp 
Child Protection Committees, following involvement by our Lebanese member Naba’a. 

Significance: Whether for protection or due to cultural obligations, poverty, or limited 
opportunities, many children in Lebanon’s refugee camps become associated with armed 
groups. It is challenging to convince these groups not to recruit children, as they believe 

that it helps to reinforce their identity and ensures they do not forget their homeland. In 
one of the oldest and largest camps, all parties previously known to be recruiting children 
are now part of the Child Protection committees.

Contribution: The 2016 visit to Taller de Vida (Colombia) provided new experiences 
for the staff at Naba’a. They learned new methodologies for dealing with affected children 
and the groups they are associated with. On their return, Naba’a carried out awareness 
sessions with the armed groups, advocating for them to join the Child Protection 
committees, and for them to allow children to go to school and live normal lives in 
the communities.

Outcome 5: Potential foster carers participating in training

Description: In 2018, as a result of awareness raised by Semya through TV and 
informational booklets, 50 families in south Kyrgyzstan expressed an interest in being 
trained as foster carers.

Significance: Many children have to leave institutions and go live with foster 
families without much preparation and planning. This approach is not working, 
and both children and foster parents experience difficulties during the adaptation period. 
It is necessary to engage the child and the foster family within the integration process 
and to provide further support, such as psychological assistance to both the child and 
the parents. Kyrgyzstan is developing new alternative care initiatives that will also reduce 
the cost of taking care of children in institutions. Foster care as an alternative is critical 
to this process.

Contribution: With the support of Family, Semya has developed video and 
other promotional booklets to raise awareness of foster care and other alternative 
care options. Semya drew inspiration from the meeting with Family member Hayat Sende 
in Turkey and the promotional materials of other members. Semya aired the videos 
and distributed the booklets to public and potential foster carers through the social 
welfare department.

Ensuring our financial sustainability

Family was set up with support and funding from international NGO EveryChild, with the 
vision of creating a new global network of local children’s organisations working together 
to improve children’s care around the world.

Family completed a planned transition and asset transfer with EveryChild in September 
2016, providing assets of £2.9m to be prudently invested in growing the scale and 
impact of the global network, and in securing new sources of income to sustain Family’s 
development and operations over the long term.

The financial plan (2022-23) is aimed at securing new sources of income and achieving 
full financial sustainability over the period. To this end, we have made a significant 
sustainability investment in New Zealand since 2017 to grow a new base of individual 
supporters making regular monthly donations. 
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Whilst we are not investing in growing the UK supporter base and have significantly 
reduced UK fundraising costs, we are retaining as many of our existing UK supporters 
as possible through ongoing communications. In particular in 2019, we will focus on 
a legacy campaign to generate income through bequests in wills. The unrestricted 
income from the UK and NZ programmes will help to ensure a stable base of core 
income for Family in the medium term, while we continue to diversify and develop 
new partnerships with trusts, foundations, institutions, and corporations. In 2019 we 
will also invest in establishing a US fundraising operation to generate income through 
high value sources. 

Over the period to 2022-23, we expect to prudently invest reserves while ensuring that we 
maintain the required level of reserves as per our policy. We are carefully tracking these 
investments and the utilisation of reserves through a financial plan, which is monitored on 
a quarterly basis.

Remaining accountable

We regularly review our results in order to learn where and how we can be more effective 
in achieving outcomes for children and families. We do this through an annual process 
of outcome harvesting, where we identify outcomes that have been achieved through 
activities of members.

In 2019, we put in place a Planning, Monitoring, Evaluation, and Learning Framework, 
which guides our approach to monitoring and evaluating network activities (for more 
information, see the Planning, Monitoring, Evaluation, and Learning section on page 32). 
We have also implemented a programmes database, which enables us to gather, track, 
and report on data more effectively.

In September 2019, an external evaluation is commissioned. This will inform the 
development of our 2021 strategy.

Enhancing our leadership

The vibrancy and effectiveness of the network is dependent upon strong and cohesive 
leadership from the Board of Trustees, Assembly of Members, and Secretariat.

In 2018-19, we supported three members in moving from associate to full membership, 
enabling them to participate in network governance decisions. Two news trustees, 
Abla El-Badry, of Hope Village Society (Egypt), and Blessing Mutama, of Farm Orphans 
Support Trust (Zimbabwe), joined the Board in March 2019. In June 2019, the Board 
co-opted Patrick Obonyo to lead on global fundraising. We currently have eight 
member-elected trustees and four co-opted trustees on the Board. 

The Board continues to dedicate a half-day every six months to board development, 
with a focus on board effectiveness and good governance. The Board uses these sessions 
to review and apply the Charity Governance Code 2017 on a rolling basis.
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Statutory 
Report and 
Financial 
Statements 
2019

Statutory Report and Financial Statements

The Directors, who are also the Trustees of the 
charity, present their statutory report along with 
the consolidated financial statements of the 
charity and its subsidiary for the period from 
1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019. The financial 
statements have been prepared based on the 
accounting policies set out in note 2 to the 
financial statements. 

Financial review 

Income

In 2018/19 the income of Family for Every Child was £3.3m compared with £2.9m in the 
previous year. This increase in income from the previous year is a result of the sustainability 
investment that we have made in New Zealand to secure new sources of income for the 
global network (for more information see section on Ensuring our financial sustainability 
on page 36). 

Of the £3.3m total income in 2018/19, £2.8m was received from our existing individual 
supporters in the UK (including gift aid) and £439k was received from new individual 
supporters in New Zealand. £57k was received from other sources, including trusts and 
foundations. In 2019/20, we expect to see a further increase in income generated in New 
Zealand, as we continue to invest in our new individual giving programme. This is part of 
our sustainability investment strategy to secure new sources of income and to stabilise 
core income for the global network during the period to 2022/23.

The UK fundraising programme continues to perform well and we continue to manage the 
rate of attrition of this income stream within our target envelope of 11%. Trust & Foundation 
income is slightly down on the previous year, as our funding from Oak Foundation came 
to an end. We are currently in the final stages of agreeing a new grant from Oak to 
deliver the second phase of the RISE Learning Network (see Section B.4 on page 19). We 
received the final grant payment from GHR Foundation for Network Development. 

Expenditure

At £4m, total expenditure for 2018/19 is higher than the previous year (2017/18: £3m). Of 
this amount, £1.7m was expended on charitable activities (compared to £1.6m in 2017/18), 
£0.7m on raising funds through our existing UK fundraising programme and £1.6m on 
sustainability investment.
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Charitable expenditure is slightly higher than the previous year, as we have increased 
expenditure on global network activities and have continued to grow the membership. 
This trend is expected to continue in 2019/20 as we continue to expand network activities 
and grow the membership. Total expenditure on charitable activities during the year is 
analysed against Family’s strategic objectives as follows: 

Total charitable activities £1.69m

A major element of our financial sustainability investment plan (see page 36) is to stabilise 
and secure Family’s individual giving income. The £1.6m sustainability investment in 
2018/19 was directed towards the development of the individual giving programme 
established in New Zealand in 2017. Whilst the programme is still at a relatively early stage 
of development, at the end of March 2019 we had recruited over 7,000 supporters giving 
on average NZ$26 per month. 

Whilst the sustainability investment is a substantial part of total expenditure in 2018/19, it 
is important that we invest at this stage of development of the global network. Investment 
in fundraising was relatively low during the establishment of Family for Every Child and 
the transition from EveryChild and we are now in an investment phase to secure future 
income to support ongoing development of the network. 

In 2019/2020 we will continue to embed and grow the New Zealand fundraising 
programme. We have a target of over 4000 additional supporters by end 2019/2020, 
giving every month. We will be communicating regularly with these supporters and will 
seek to increase the value of their monthly donation as appropriate. 

722
42.8%

487
28.9%

476
28.2%

• Strengthening the alliance 
• Leveraging the power of local civil society to improve children’s care
•  Joining forces for enhanced impact

Reserves

At the end of the year, Family held total reserves of £3m, of which £0.07m is restricted. 
In general, Family holds reserves so that it can respond to risks that are likely to require 
a period of adjustment, or to take action to capitalise quickly on major unforeseen and 
strategic opportunities. As a global network, Family needs to be able to be flexible and 
to adapt and respond to member needs and interests. Reserves are also necessary to 
manage day to day operating risks, providing cash flow, creating a buffer against any 
mismatch in timing between income and expenditure, and ensuring funds are reasonably 
available for day to day management.
 
Family has a risk-based reserves policy which is reviewed annually and approved by the 
Board of Trustees. Our current assessment of the reserves we require to address the 
risks we face and to enable us to respond to strategic opportunities is £825k.
 
As at 31 March 2019 Family held reserves amounting to £3m, of which £72k comprised 
restricted funds for future work, £31k represents the net book value of fixed assets, and 
£2.9m are free reserves. Family has a clear plan over the next four years to utilise its 
reserves to invest in developing its programmes and track record, to establish itself further 
globally, and to secure new and diversified sources of income. This plan is explicitly 
designed to reduce reserves to our target level by around 2022/23, through judicious 
investment to secure financial resilience and a sustainable future for Family.

 
Investments

At 31 March 2019, Family held total investments of £1.8m. In accordance with our policy 
of protecting the value of our funds and ensuring adequate liquidity, at 31 March 2019 
Family held £0.4m of its total investments in cash and cash equivalents. £1.4m was held 
as listed investments within long and medium term investment funds managed by Sarasin 
& Partners LLP. We measure the investment performance on a quarterly basis against a 
clear set of benchmarks agreed with the investment manager.  

During 2018/19, the medium and long term investment funds managed by Sarasin yielded 
total net realised income of £38k, which was reinvested in the funds. There were total 
unrealised investment gains of £36k during the year. During the year, we also released 
£618k from our short term cash investments to working capital.

As explained in the section on reserves above, Family plans to invest surplus reserves in 
developing a sustainable network over the next few years and as such the investment will 
be gradually utilised. In May 2019, we liquidated the Sarasin Investment Fund in order to 
secure the funds which will be used during the period to 2022/23. Funds will be held in a 
secure short term investment or high-interest bank account.

Our ethical investment policy seeks to avoid investment in companies that deal in activities 
which conflicts with our work, and specifically avoids organisations with any material 
involvement in tobacco, alcohol manufacture, armaments, gambling and pornography.
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Fundraising statement

We currently undertake fundraising activities in both the UK and New Zealand. We work 
with a number of partner agencies to deliver our fundraising objectives. In 2018/19 we 
worked with three partner Face to Face  agencies in New Zealand and one partner 
telemarketing agency in the United Kingdom. All agencies are carefully selected and 
monitored, both through procurement processes and in regular ongoing reviews. All 
agencies are employed on a contractual basis and clauses are in place which allow Family 
for Every Child to terminate the relationship if they do not comply with our agreed policies 
and procedures. The fundraising team regularly monitors all campaigns by listening to 
telephone calls, visiting face-to-face teams and conducting mystery shopping.

Family is a member of the Public Fundraising Regulatory Association in New Zealand and 
the Institute of Fundraising and the Fundraising Regulator in the UK.  Family is GDPR-
compliant in the UK and the New Zealand programme is being brought into alignment. 
Our website and communications (digital and print) clearly state our data protection 
policies and offer the opportunity to opt out of receiving communications. Our ‘Supporter 
Promise’ is displayed on our website, as well as our policies on tainted donations, Privacy 
Policy and our position on refunds. 

Our Supporter Care Team ensures that we resolve donor and supporter complaints 
within our Service Level Agreement and that complaints and issues are recorded 
appropriately. Family for Every Child is committed to best practice in fundraising and 
follows the Fundraising Promise and the Institute of Fundraising’s Code of Fundraising 
Practice. During the year we have received and resolved a total of 1 complaint related 
to UK fundraising activity and 70 complaints relating to New Zealand. The number of 
complaints in New Zealand account for 1.5% of our overall supporter base. All complaints 
are logged with the agencies and a written response is provided within a strict time frame. 
Additional training is provided to our external agencies where necessary.

Family for Every Child is committed to protecting vulnerable donors and we ensure that 
all F2F and Telemarketing recruiters are trained by Family for Every Child staff. Recruiters 
are briefed on the work of Family for Every Child and are trained how to talk about our 
ethical approach and supporter promise. In New Zealand each recruiter is trained on our 
F2F Code of Conduct.

Grant-making policy 

Our members implement joint initiatives and projects on behalf of the network. This 
can require funds to be mobilised to members who are then accountable for the use of 
funds and reporting on the delivery of activities. Our funding policy lays out the roles and 
responsibilities, reporting requirements and administrative processes.  Members develop 
and agree proposals and budgets before a funding agreement is signed and funds 
transferred.  As part of the membership criteria,all members are required to complete 
a due diligence process and to share information on their financial position, financial 
management and internal controls.  

Principal risks

The Trustees are ultimately responsible for risk management and the effectiveness of 
Family’s internal controls. The major risks to which Family is exposed, as identified by the 
Trustees, have been reviewed and mitigating actions taken to manage those risks.

The Trustees review the Risk Register every six months. The Leadership Team ensures 
that the day-to-day risk management processes are embedded across the organisation 
through effective implementation of policies and procedures. The principal risks and 
mitigation strategies are identified in the table below.

Risk Mitigation Strategy

Long-term financial 
sustainability of operating 
model

We have reviewed and updated our financial plan to 
2022/23. As part of this, we have continued to invest 
in an individual giving programme in New Zealand. This 
has enabled us to stabilise core income at around £3m 
this year. However, we continue to monitor performance 
against the financial plan on a quarterly basis to guide 
our investment decisions and further development of our 
operating model.

Lack of systems to evidence 
outcomes and impact

In 2018/19 we have established a Planning, Monitoring, 
Evaluation and Learning Framework and have 
implemented a programmes database to ensure that we 
are better able to monitor and report on outcomes and 
impact. We will complete our annual outcome harvest in 
2019 and in September 2019 will commission an external 
evaluation of the network to inform the development of 
our Strategy 2021. 

Failure to develop and secure 
funding for joint projects

In 2018/19, members have developed a range of joint 
project concepts through the thematic working groups. 
We have been able to kickstart the delivery of projects 
with seed funding and are starting to deliver results. The 
fundraising environment has remained challenging during 
the year and we have not been successful in securing 
additional project funds from donors

Lack of strong relationships 
with prospective donors

We have established a clearer strategy to accelerate the 
development of donor prospects, including:

• Developing a list of Strategic Partnership

priorities and opportunities

• Developing donor priorities and plans with clear

donor relationship management

• Increasing attendance of donor events and

other profile-raising opportunities led by the

CEO. This will remain a key priority throughout

2019/20.
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Structure, governance and management

Family operates through an incorporated charity registered with the Charity Commission 
for England and Wales and with Companies House. Various subsidiary and connected 
charities support Family and are described below. 

Family is a global network of 35 member organisations from 32 countries. All our members 
are local or national civil society organisations working on children’s care issues who 
share our collective vision of a world where children can grow up safe and protected in 
families and be provided with quality alternative care when needed. 

Family is led by its members through a member-elected Board. Our Board is accountable 
to the membership and reports annually at the General Meeting. Our operations are 
coordinated by a Secretariat who coordinate global network activities with members. 

Family’s governance is managed in accordance with the charity’s Articles of Association, 
as well as the Governance Manual, which was developed and approved by the 
membership in 2014 and is regularly updated. The Governance Manual details the 
roles and responsibilities of the Assembly of Members, Board, and Secretariat, and the 
procedures for meetings of these bodies and decision-making. 

The Assembly of Members is responsible for electing the Board and receives reports 
from the Board at the General Meeting. It discharges its governance duties under the 
Companies Act and votes on any changes required to the Articles of Association or the 
Governance Manual. 

The Board of Trustees is responsible for the strategy and governance of the organisation. 
The Board oversees the performance of the Secretariat and holds the CEO to account. 
The Board meets on a quarterly basis, with two face to face and two online meetings per 
year. The Board co-opts independent trustees to fill any identified skills gaps on the Board. 
In general, co-option is through an open process of advertisement and recruitment. 

Board Selection & Development Committee

The Board Selection & Development Committee oversees Board development and 
training to support trustees’ understanding of their role and responsibilities and ensure 
an effective way of working. Board development is a standing item on the agenda of 
face to face board meetings and is guided by the Charity Governance Code 2017.

The Committee also supports the Board to develop a recruitment and selection process 
for new trustees and election process for member trustees. Induction of new trustees 
takes the form of meetings with officers of the Board, the CEO and her leadership team, 
and the sharing of key documentation. 

Membership Committee

The Membership Committee supports the Board to identify, assess and accept new 
members, as well as to accompany the “member journey”. The Committee is also 
responsible for overseeing the application and adherence to the membership criteria 
framework, the tracking of members’ engagement and fulfilment of the membership 
criteria, procedures for resolving concerns raised related to membership, and for 
making recommendations to the Board regarding proposed changes to membership 
(e.g. when an associate member is transitioning to full membership). 

Finance & HR Committee

The Finance & HR Committee supports the Board to oversee performance against 
Family’s financial plans and targets and manage organisational risk. It oversees Family’s 
HR policies, practice and remuneration.

Secretariat

The Secretariat is responsible for coordinating and delivering Family’s global network 
operations and activities. The Secretariat works closely with members to facilitate 
engagement and participation in the network, harness new opportunities, and ensure 
that network activities are delivering impact for children and families.

The Secretariat is led by the CEO and the Leadership Team who together are 
responsible for directing, controlling, running and operating the Charity on a day to day 
basis. The pay of the Leadership Team is reviewed annually in conjunction with all staff 
and any increase is applied following approval by the Board.
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Related Parties

Family Alliance

Family Alliance is a subsidiary of Family. Family Alliance is a not for profit organisation with 
charitable status registered in New York and it has its own board of three trustees. Family 
for Every Child is the sole member of Family Alliance and has control by virtue of being 
able to appoint and remove trustees. Family Alliance shares two trustees in common with 
Family which ensures close synergy between the two boards. A representative of Family 
Alliance makes a verbal report to the Family board on a six monthly basis and on an 
annual basis to the Assembly of Members to share updates on organisational activities 
and achievements.

Family for Every Child New Zealand

Family for Every Child New Zealand was established in 2017 and is a subsidiary of Family. 
It is a charitable trust registered in New Zealand and it has its own board of four trustees. 
Family for Every Child has control by virtue of being able to appoint and remove trustees. 
Family for Every Child New Zealand shares two trustees in common with Family which 
ensures close synergy between the two boards. A representative of Family NZ makes a 
verbal report to the Family board on a six monthly basis and on an annual basis to the 
Assembly of Members to share updates on organisational activities and achievements.

Other Related Parties

Family is the sole member of EveryChild, The European Children’s Trust and The Christian 
Children’s Fund of Great Britain, all of which are limited by guarantee and have no share 
capital. Family owns the whole of the ordinary share capital of EveryChild Trading Limited.

Trustees

Family trustee attendance register

 Board    Other commitees
Total Attended Total Attended

Abla El-Badry 1 1 0 0

Blessing Mutama 1 1 0 0

Ian Hanham2 4 4 4 4

Isabel Crowley2, 3 4 4 10 9

James Kofi Annan1 4 2* 1 1

Jane Dekker1, 2, 3 4 4 13 9

Krishna Thapa3 4 4 6 3

Lyudmila Sorokina1 4 4 3 3

Omattie Madray3 3 3 6 4

Rita Panicker1, 3 3 3 9 7

Stella Duque2 4 4 4 3

Trevor Pearcy1 4 4 3 3

Yared Defegu3 4 4 6 4

1Board Selection & Development Committee
2Finance & HR Committee 
3Membership Committee 
* The Chair duties were carried out by the Vice Chair, Rita Panicker, during a planned
absence of James Kofi Annan during part of the year.

Public Benefit

As Trustees we have given due consideration to the Charity Commission’s published 
guidance on the Public Benefit requirement under the Charities Act 2011. We believe 
that, in achieving the objectives described in this report, Family for Every Child meets the 
public benefit requirement.

As described in the earlier in the report, the main activities we undertake to further our 
charitable purpose for public benefit are research, advocacy, campaigns, contribution to 
policy positions and technical assistance to change the behaviour of national, regional and 
global decision makers. The aim is to improve policy, programmes, practice and resource 
allocation to support children without adequate care. Also, through practice exchange 
and knowledge sharing and learning activities across the network and beyond (e.g. inter-
agency collaboration), members’ (and external partners) own practice is strengthened so 
that they are able to better support the vulnerable children, families and communities that 
they work with.
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Statement of trustees’ responsibilities

The trustees (who are also directors of Family for Every Child for the purposes of UK 
Company Law) a re responsible for preparing the Group Strategic Report, Trustees’ 
Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable laws and regulations.

Company Law requires the Trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial 
year. Under Company Law the trustees must not approve the financial statements unless 
they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the charitable 
company and the group and of its incoming resources and application of resources, 
including the income and expenditure, of the charitable group for that period. The trustees 
are required to:

• Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently
• Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent
• State whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to 

any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements
• Prepare the financial statements on the going-concern basis unless it is 

inappropriate to presume that the charity will continue to operate.
 
The trustees are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that are sufficient 
to show and explain the charitable company and group’s transactions and disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the charitable group and enable 
them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They 
are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the charitable company and group 
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities.

The trustees of Family for Every Child are responsible for the maintenance and integrity 
of the corporate and financial information included on the charitable group's website. 
Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial 
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Information provided to auditors

Each of the persons who is trustee at the date of approval of this report confirms that: 

so far that the trustee is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the 
company’s auditors are unaware; and

the trustee has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a trustee in order 
to make himself/herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the 
company’s auditors are aware of that information. 

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of 
section 418 of the Companies Act 2006. 

Pursuant to section 487 of the Companies Act 2006, the auditor will be deemed to be 
reappointed and Crowe U.K. LLP will therefore continue in office.

The annual report and accounts is approved by the Board of Trustees on 5th October and 
signed on its behalf by the Chair of the Board:

James Kofi Annan
Chair of the Board of Trustees
 

5th October 2019
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Family for Every Child for the year ended 
31 March 2019 which comprise the Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities, 
Consolidated and Company Balance Sheet and notes to the financial statements, including 
a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that 
has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice).

In our opinion the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and the charitable company’s
affairs as at 31 March 2019 and of the group’s incoming resources and
application of resources, including its income and expenditure for the year then
ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice; and

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act
2006 and the Charities Act 2011.

Basis for opinion

 We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) 
(ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of 
our report. We are independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s 
Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs 
(UK) require us to report to you where:

• the trustees’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of
the financial statements is not appropriate; or

• the trustees have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the group’s or the charitable
company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for
a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements
are authorised for issue.

 Other information

The trustees are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises 
the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other 
information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies 
or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a 
material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other 
information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion based on the work undertaken in the course of our audit:

the information given in the trustees’ report, which includes the directors’ report and the 
strategic report prepared for the purposes of company law, for the financial year for which 
the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and
the strategic report and the directors’ report included within the trustees’ report have 
been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the charitable company 
and their environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material 
misstatements in the [strategic report or the] directors’ report included within the trustees’ 
report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the 
Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

• the parent company has not kept adequate accounting records; or
• the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the

accounting records and returns; or
• certain disclosures of trustees' remuneration specified by law are not made; or
• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our

audit.

Responsibilities of trustees

As explained more fully in the trustees’ responsibilities statement set out on page 52, 
the trustees (who are also the directors of the charitable company for the purposes of 
company law) are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the trustees 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the trustees are responsible for assessing the 
group’s or the charitable company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, 
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the trustees either intend to liquidate the charitable company or to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level 
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
(UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located 
on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. 
This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the charitable company’s members, as a body, in accordance 
with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken 
so that we might state to the charitable company’s members those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than 
the charitable company and the charitable company’s members as a body, for our audit 
work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Tim Redwood
Senior Statutory Auditor

For and on behalf of

Crowe U.K. LLP

Statutory Auditor

St Bride’s House,

10 Salisbury Square,

London

EC4Y 8EH

21 October 2019
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Financial 
Statements
For the 
year ended
31 March 
2019

Financial Statements 2018/19

Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities
(Incorporating an income and expenditure account)
For the year ended 31 March 2019

Note Unrestricted 
Funds

Restricted 
Funds

Total 
2019

Unrestricted 
Funds

Restricted 
Funds

Total 
2018

£ £ £ £ £ £

INCOME FROM:

Donations and legacies:

Voluntary income 6  3,173,634 94,219 3,267,853 2,762,723 127,300 2,890,023

Charitable activities – – – – – –

Investments  52,162 – 52,162 49,128 – 49,128

Total income 3,225,796 94,219 3,320,015 2,811,851 127,300 2,939,151 

EXPENDITURE ON:

Raising funds: 3 – – –
Fundraising and 
Communications

 651,972 –  651,972 669,611 – 669,611

Sustainability investment 1,626,204 – 1,626,204 697,130 – 697,130

Total on raising funds  2,278,176 –  2,278,176 1,366,741 – 1,366,741

Charitable activities: 3

Leveraging the power of 
local civil society to improve 
children's care

487,066 – 487,066 414,027 - 414,027

Joining forces for enhanced 
impact

716,113 6,038 722,151 512,511 82,833 595,344

Strengthening the Alliance 430,924 44,944 475,868 577,683 35,109 612,792 

Total on charitable activities  1,634,103 50,982 1,685,085 1,504,221 117,942 1,622,163 

Total expenditure  3,912,279 50,982 3,963,261 2,870,962 117,942 2,988,904 
NET INCOME 
(EXPENDITURE)

7  (686,483) 43,237 (643,246) (59,111) 9,358 (49,753) 

Exchange rate gain (loss)  9,506 - 9,506 (12,690) - (12,690) 
Valuation gains (loss) on 
investment assets

9 36,118 - 36,118 (18,668) - (18,668) 

NET MOVEMENT IN FUNDS 15 (640,859) 43,237 (597,622) (90,469) 9,358 (81,111) 

Reconciliation of funds:

Total funds brought forward  3,467,994 129,092 3,597,086 3,558,463 119,734 3,678,197 

Transfer of funds  100,000 (100,000) - - - -
TOTAL FUNDS CARRIED 
FORWARD

14 2,927,135 72,329 2,999,464 3,467,994 129,092 3,597,086

The notes to the consolidated financial statements on pages 59 to 63 form part of these 
consolidated financial statements.
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Balance Sheets
As at 31 March 2019

Group Charity

Note 2019 2018 2019 2018

£ £ £ £

FIXED ASSETS

Intangible assets 8 21,959 43,917 21,959 43,917 

Tangible assets 8 8,829 4,014 8,829 4,013

Investments 9 1,830,281 2,374,386 1,830,281 2,374,386 

1,861,069 2,422,317 1,861,069 2,422,316

CURRENT ASSETS
Debtors, prepayments and 
accrued income

10 254,309 705,667 254,309 705,667

Cash and bank 764,000 763,000 634,197 707,633

Other current assets 350,000 350,000

1,368,309 1,468,667 1,238,507 1,413,300

LIABILITIES
Creditors: amounts falling 
due within one year

11 (229,914) (293,898) (169,826) (308,509)

Net current assets 1,138,395 1,174,769 1,068,681 1,104,791

Net assets 14 2,999,464 3,597,086 2,929,750 3,527,107

FUNDS 15

Unrestricted funds 2,927,135 3,467,994 2,857,421 3,398,015

Restricted funds 72,329 129,092 72,329 129,092

TOTAL FUNDS 2,999,464 3,597,086 2,929,750 3,527,107

Charity only summary of results:

Total income, expenditure and net result for the year for the Charity only were 
£2,880,866 (2018: £2,888,896), £2,369,341 (2018: £2,474,699) and £553,522 (2018: 
£388,374) respectively.

Approved by the Trustees on 5th October 2019 and signed on their behalf by:

James Kofi Annan

Chair of the Board

The notes to the consolidated financial statements on pages 59 to 63 form part of these 
consolidated financial statements.

Company Number: 08177641
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Consolidated statement of cash flows 

For the year ended 31 March 2019

2019 2018

Note £ £

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities I (632,895) (505,086)

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchase of tangible fixed assets (7,995) -

Reinvested interest (37,978) (36,883)

Proceeds from sale of investments – -

Interest from investments 52,161 49,128 

Increase in cash in investment (7,690) 75,553

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (1,502) 87,798
Change in cash and cash equivalents in the reporting 
period (634,397) (417,288)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April 2017 1,788,992 2,218,970
Change in cash and cash equivalents due to exchange 
rate movements

9,506 (12,690)

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 2019 II 1,164,101 1,788,992

2019 2018

£ £

I. Reconciliation of net income/(expenditure) to net 
cash flow from operating activities

Net income for the year (as per the statement of financial 
activities)

(597,622) (81,111)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation charges 25,139 25,436

(Increase)/decrease in debtors 101,358 (367,303)

Increase/(decrease) in creditors (63,984) (64,338)

Interest from investments (52,162) (49,128)

Gain on exchange rate movements (9,506) 12,690

Valuation (gain) on investment (36,118) 18,668

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (632,895) (505,086)

II. Analysis of cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank and in hand 764,000 763,000

Cash in investments 400,101 1,025,992

1,164,101 1,788,992

The notes to the consolidated financial statements on zs 59 to 63 form part of these 
consolidated financial statements.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

For the year ended 31 March 2019 

1. Company information

The Company is a registered charity and as such is a non-profit making organisation, 
limited by guarantee and therefore with no share capital. The number of members at 31 
March 2019 is 35 and their liability on a liquidation is limited to £1 each.

The Company is registered as a limited liability company in England and Wales under 
number 08177641 and its registered office is 75 King William Street, London, EC4N 7BE. 
The Company is a Public Benefit Entity registered with the Charity Commission under 
number 1149212.

2. Accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the accounts are as 
follows:

Basis of accounting

The accounts (financial statements) have been prepared in accordance with the Statement 
of Recommended Practice Accounting and Reporting by Charities (SORP FRS 102) 
preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable 
in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) and the Charities Act 2011 and UK Generally 
Accepted Practice.

After making enquiries, the Trustees have a reasonable expectation that there are no 
material uncertainties and that the Charity has adequate resources to continue its activities 
for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, it continues to adopt the going concern basis in 
preparing the financial statements as outlined in the report of the trustees.

Consolidation

The financial statements have been prepared consolidating the result of the Charity and 
its subsidiaries undertakings Family Alliance and Family New Zealand Trust. The results 
of the subsidiary are consolidated on a line by line basis. See Note 17 for further details.

During the period other subsidiary companies, namely: EveryChild, EveryChild Trading 
Limited, The European Children's Trust (ECT) and The Christian Children's Fund of Great 
Britain (CCFGB) had no significant transactions to report and were dormant. Hence they 
have not been consolidated in the accounts on the grounds of immateriality.
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Incoming resources

Incoming resources are accounted for when the Charity has entitlement, there is probability 
of receipt and the amount can be measured. Incoming resources are deferred only when 
the donor has imposed pre-conditions on the expenditure of resources.

Legacy income is recognised at the earlier of the receipt of income or notification of 
a distribution and when it is probable that it will be received. Pecuniary legacies are 
recognised on receipt of income.

Gifts in kind are valued and brought in as income and the appropriate expenditure where 
the third party providing them bears a financial cost. The value placed on resources 
included in the Statement Of Financial Activities (SOFA) is the value to the Charity of the 
service or goods received. Family measured the value by estimating how much it would 
have had to pay for the service on the open market, unless this was difficult to estimate, 
in which case we have used the actual cost to the donor.

Financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities are initially recognised at transaction value and are 
subsequently measured where applicable at amortised cost. Financial assets held at 
amortised cost comprise cash at bank, together with trade and other debtors. Financial 
liabilities held at amortised cost comprise trade and other creditors. Financial assets and 
liabilities exclude statutory assets and liabilities, prepayments and deferred income. No 
discounting has been applied to these financial instruments on the basis that the periods 
over which amounts will be settled are such that any discounting would be immaterial.

Operating lease rentals

Costs in respect of operating leases are charged to resources expended over the term 
of the lease.

Foreign currency

Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at the balance sheet 
date. Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at the appropriate rate 
of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction.

Gains or losses resulting from conversion of foreign currencies have been dealt with in the 
Statement of Financial Activities.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the view of the Trustees, no assumptions concerning the future or estimation uncertainty 
affecting assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date are likely to result in a material 
adjustment to their carrying amounts in the next financial year.

The principal accounting policies adopted, judgements and key sources of estimation 
uncertainty in the presentation of the financial statements are as follows:

Fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets purchased for on-going use are capitalised, where cost exceeds 
£1,000, and disclosed at cost less depreciation. Depreciation is calculated to write off the 
cost of fixed assets, less residual values, over their expected useful lives, on a straight line 
basis over four years.

Intangible fixed assets costing more than £1,000 are capitalised at cost. Intangible fixed 
assets include software costs. They are amortised over four years, their estimated useful 
lives.

Investments

Investments are stated at market value as at the balance sheet date, and any unrealised 
gains and losses arising on the revaluation of investments are credited or charged to the 
SOFA.

Investments in subsidiaries are valued at cost less provision for impairment.

Impairment of fixed assets and investments

Fixed assets and investments are subject to review for impairment when there is an 
indication of a reduction in their carrying value. Any impairment is recognised in the SOFA 
in the year in which it occurs.

Pension

On behalf of UK-based staff, the Charity contributes to UK defined contribution pension 
schemes administered by independent companies. It also makes contributions to similar 
schemes (such as superannuation schemes) in other countries for non-UK staff members. 
Non-UK based staff members who are not eligible to participate in any scheme due to 
their location receive 5% on top of their salary, as a contribution towards a personal 
pension plan. The pension costs represent the contributions payable by the Company 
to the schemes for the year and the total allowances paid to those non-UK based staff 
members in consideration of the pension benefit.
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Resources expended

All expenditure, inclusive of an element of non-reclaimable VAT, is recognised when 
incurred on an accruals basis.

Resources expended are disclosed under the headings: cost of raising funds and 
charitable expenditure.

Support costs including for the day-to-day operational management of the organisation 
and governance costs that are associated with the governance arrangements of the 
organisation and the strategic management of its activities have been allocated across 
SOFA headings based on the percentage of average staff headcount allocated to these 
headings. The allocation of the average staff headcount is based on a reasonable estimate 
by management.

Charitable expenditure is further analysed, based on management judgement, into the 
following:

 • Leveraging the power of local civil society to improve children's care
 • Joining forces for enhanced impact
 • Strengthening the alliance

These categories reflect Strategic Objectives of the charity as set out and discussed 
within the Trustees’ report.

The cost of raising funds relates to the costs incurred by Family in inducing third parties 
to make voluntary donations, as well as expenditure on any activities with a fundraising 
purpose. As indicated in the Trustees' Report, Family has a five year financial plan to 
secure its long term sustainability through prudent investment in new fundraising markets. 
This investment is shown separately as 'Sustainability Investments' in the cost of raising 
funds section in the SOFA.

Grants payable

Grants payable are recognised as expenditure when there is a legal or constructive 
obligation to make the grant. Grant expenditure charged to the SOFA is in accordance 
with the terms and conditions attached to the individual grant agreements.

In general grant awards to members are recognised as expenditure in total in the financial 
year in which terms are agreed. In exceptional circumstances where grant payments are 
performance related, Family accounts for the liability on a performance basis to the extent 
that the conditions for performance are met.

Funds

Unrestricted funds are funds which are available for use at the discretion of the Trustees in 
furtherance of the general objectives of the Charity and which have not been designated 
for other purposes.
Restricted funds are funds which are to be used in accordance with specific restrictions 
imposed by donors or which have been raised by the Charity for particular purposes. The 
cost of administering such funds are charged against the specific fund. The aim and use 
of each restricted fund is set out in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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3. Analysis of resources expended

     a) Analysis of expenditure by aim

     b) Analysis of expenditure by cost type

Direct cost Support cost 2019 total 2019 total

£ £ £ £

Cost of raising funds

Fundraising and Communications 490,131 161,840 651,971 669,611

Sustainability investment 1,581,796 44,408 1,626,204 697,130

2,071,927 206,248 2,278,175 1,366,741

Charitable expenditure

Leveraging the power of local civil 

society to improve children's care

426,294 60,772 487,066 414,027

Joining forces for enhanced 

impact

643,616 78,535 722,151 595,344

Strengthening the Alliance 389,192 86,677 475,869 612,792

1,459,102 225,984 1,685,086 1,622,163

Total resources expended 3,531,029 432,232 3,963,261 2,988,904

Direct cost Support cost 2019 total 2018 total

£ £ £ £

Staff costs 914,991 242,589 1,157,580 1,275,208

Grants to members 154,343 - 154,343 30,405

Grants to other organisations 1,116 - 1,116 7,700

Consultants, including to support 

member activities

229,676 2,551 232,227 234,131

Translation and interpretation 83,404 3,840 87,244 68,612

Travel and accommodation, 

including for members

266,753 21,593 288,346 265,827

Legal and professional services 70,297 11,610 81,907 175,392

Office accommodation and 
services

121,700 15,904 137,604 142,401

Human resources, information 

technology and other business 

services

146,147 58,262 204,409 171,733

Equipment and supplies 

(including depreciation of fixed 

assets)

11,344 26,791 38,135 36,788

Communications including 

fundraising related print & 

productions

1,515,671 26,145 1,541,816 510,748

Auditor’s remuneration (including 

VAT)

- 18,480 18,480 17,220

Other costs 15,584 4,470 20,054 52,739

3,531,026 432,235 3,963,261 2,988,904

     c) Grants to Institutions

During the financial year Family facilitated the participation of member organisations in 
various projects and activities that support its mission and vision. In doing so, Family 
made grant commitments to members of £154,343 (2018: £30,405).

Member name and country 2019 total 2018 total

£ £

Associação Brasileira Terra dos Homens (ABTH) (Brazil) - 1,491

Butterflies (India) 24,210 4,066

Children In Distress Network (CINDI) (South Africa) 2,205 802

Challenging Heights (Ghana) 12,904 4,874

ChildLinK (Guyana) (434) 3,836

Children Assistance Programme (CAP) (Liberia) 5,426 -

CONACMI (Guatemala) - 576

Center for the Prevention and Treatment of Child Sexual 

Abuse (CPTCSA) (Philippines)

27,089 259

Community Based Rehabilitation Jamaica (CBRJ) 

(Jamaica)

332 3,511

Semya Khazdomu Rebenku (Kyrgyzstan) 3,858 3,459

First Step Cambodia (Cambodia) - 257

Farm Orphans Support Trust (FOST) (Zimbabwe) 54,585 861

Forum on Sustainable Child Empowerment (FSCE) 

(Ethiopia) *

209 (5,566)

Hayat Sende (Turkey) 4,450 353

Hope Village Society (Egypt) 2,032 261

Jordan River Foundation (JRF) (Jordan) - 331

JUCONI (Mexico) (16,290) -

Mentor UK (UK) 3,002 -

Muhammadiyah (Indonesia) 414 1,920

Naba'a (Lebanon) - 284

Paicabi (Chile) 14,202 -

Projeto Legal (Brazil)* (1,940) (309)

Taller de Vida (TdV) (Colombia) 987 291

Undugo Society of Kenya (USK) (Kenya) 7,778 5,073

Uyisenga Ni Imanzi (Rwanda) 10,152 3,775

Total grants to members 154,343 30,405

* These are reductions in previous financial years grant commitments to reflect actual 
project spending.
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     d) Reconciliation of grants payables

2019 total 2018 total £

£ £
Grant payables brought forward 102,979 212,712

Grants awarded during the year

Member organisations (see above) 154,343 30,405

Other organisations 1,116 7,700

Total grants awarded during the year 155,459 38,105

Grant payments during the year (208,025) (147,140)

Grant payables 50,412 103,677

Revaluation loss (gain) on year-end grant payable - (698)

Grant payables carried forward 50,412 102,979

     e) Analysis of governance costs

2019 total 2018 total

 £  £
Auditor’s remuneration (excluding VAT) 15,400 14,350

Trustees’ expenses (note 5) 10,028 10,028

Staff costs 44,258 58,069

Other direct costs 25,120 30,369

94,805 112,816

4. Resources expended include:

     a) Staff costs and employees

2019 total £ 2018 total £
Salaries 980,820 1,030,243

Social security costs 105,026 98,669

Pension costs 68,364 73,288

Redundancy 3,371 73,008

1,157,581 1,275,208

The pension costs includes pension allowance to and superannuation payments on 
behalf of non-UK based staff members.

Redundancies were paid to seven staff members leaving Family as a result of internal 
restructuring during the year. There were no unpaid redundancies as at the end of the 
year.

The average monthly number of staff during the year was:

No. No.
Charitable activities 11 14

Raising funds 11 7

Support functions and governance 6 5

28 26

No. No.
Employees earning more than £60,000 p.a.

£60,000 - £70,000 - -

£70,000 - £80,000 1 -

£80,000 - £90,000 - 2

£90,000 - £100,000 1 1

Two employees earning more than £60,000 participated in a defined contribution pension 
scheme.

Total earnings and employee benefits of senior management team 273,756 502,100

5. Trustees’ expenses and remuneration

The trustees received £Nil remuneration (2018 - £Nil). Some trustees received 
reimbursement in relation to certain travel and accommodation costs to attend Board 
meetings. The total amount reimbursed was £989 to three trustees (2018 - £899 to four 
trustees). Trustees' expenses of £4,590 (2018: £10,028 to twelve trustees) were incurred 
on behalf of 9 trustees and include £3,600.54 of flight costs paid directly to suppliers.

The Trustees have waived £Nil for expenses which they could have claimed (2018: Nil).
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6. Income from donations and legacies:

Unregistered

Funds

Restricted

Funds

2019

Total

2018

Total

Group and Charity £ £ £ £
GHR Foundation - 45,615 45,615 44,466

OAK Foundation - - - 80,366

Individuals, legacies and gift aid* 3,168,702 42,566 3,211,268 2,761,673

Corporations 1,000 - 1,000 1,050

Other Trusts and Foundations 3,932 6,038 9,970 2,468

3,173,634 94,219 3,267,853 2,890,023

*Legacies: The estimated value of net legacies notified but neither received nor included 
in income is £nil (2018: 200k)

7. Net incoming resources

2019 2018

Net incoming resources after charging: £ £
Auditor’s remuneration (excluding VAT) 15,400 14,350

Trustees’ expenses (note 5) 10,028 10,028

Depreciation and amortisation of fixed assets 25,139 25,437

Realised/unrealised loss (gain) on Investment (36,118) 18,668

Realised/unrealised loss (gain) on foreign currency (9,506) 12,690

8. Fixed assets

Group and Charity

Intangible Computer

Software

Tangible

Computer Total

Cost: £ £ £

1 April 2018 87,834 13,914 101,748

Additions - 7,995 7,995

Disposals - - -

31 March 2019 87,834 21,909 109,743

Depreciation and Amortisation:

1 April 2018 43,917 9,899 53,816

Charge for the year 21,958 3,181 25,139

Disposals - - -

31 March 2019 65,875 13,080 78,955

Net book value:

31 March 2019 21,959 8,829 30,788

31 March 2018 43,917 4,015 47,932

9. Investments

Group and Charity

2019 2018

£ £

Market value at start of period 2,374,386 2,540,702

Reinvested income 37,978 36,883

Cash investment released to working capital (618,201) (184,531)

Valuation gains 36,118 (18,668)

Closing valuation at end of period 1,830,281 2,374,386

Comprising:

Listed investments 1,430,080 1,348,294

Cash and cash equivalents 400,101 1,025,992

Investment in subsidiaries (EveryChild Trading Limited)

Consisting of 100 shares at £1 each (note 17) 100 100

1,830,281 2,374,386

10. Debtors and Other Current Assets

Group and Charity

2019 2018

£ £

Prepayments and accrued income 47,991 77,767

Gift Aid reclaimable 206,318 627,900

254,318 705,667

Other Current Assets* 350,000 -

604,309 705,667

* The £350k in other current assets for the Financial year is estimated sale value of a 
property donated to Family through Legacy. The sell is in its final stages of completion 
and expected to be completed in 2019/20.

11. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Group Charity

2019 2018 2019 2018

£ £ £ £

Trade creditors 39,853 120,686 37,846 117,922

Taxes, social security and pension 31,307 22,923 30,133 22,462

Grants payable 50,412 102,979 70,438 120,815

Accrued expenses 108,342 47,310 31,409 47,310

229,914 293,898 169,826 308,509

12. Operating lease commitment

Family for Every Child has commitments under a non-cancellable operating lease for 
office space rental expiring within one year of £nil (2018 - £26,496).
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13. Financial assets and liabilities

2019 2018

£ £

Carrying amount of financial assets/liabilities

Financial assets that are measured at amortised cost 1,469,825 1,746,526

Financial liabilities that are measured at amortised cost 204,014 274,695

Financial assets that are measured at fair value 1,497,943 1,423,847

14. Group analysis of net assets

Unrestricted 

Funds

Restricted

Funds

2019

Total

Unrestricted 

Funds 

Restricted

Funds

2018

Total

£ £ £ £ £ £

Fixed assets

Tangible fixed 
assets 8,829 - 8,829 4,014 - 4,014

Intangible fixed 
assets 21,959 - 21,959 43,917 - 43,917

Investments 1,830,281 - 1,830,281 2,374,386 - 2,374,386

1,861,069 - 1,861,069 2,422,317 - 2,422,317

Net current 
assets

Current assets 1,295,980 72,329 1,368,309 1,339,575 129,092 1,468,667

Current 
liabilities (229,914) - (229,914) (293,898) - (293,898)

1,066,066 72,329 1,138,395 1,045,677 129,092 1,174,769

Total net 
assets 2,927,135 72,329 2,999,464 3,467,994 129,092 3,597,086

15. Group movement in funds

Balance 1 
April 2017

Incoming 
resources

Resources 
expended 

Exchange 
rate Gain 

(loss)

Balance  
31 March 

2018

£ £ £ £ £

Restricted funds

Implementing the network 
(“solutions grant”) 16,581 - (16,581) - -

Alliance Development grant - 44,466 (18,527) - 25,939

Recovery and reintegration from 
child sexual exploitation (RISE 
project)

- 82,834 (82,834) - -

For works in the former Soviet 
Union and South East European 
Countries (Transferred from 
EveryChild)

100,000 - - - 100,00

Others (Transferred from 
EveryChild) 3,153 - - - 3,153

119,734 127,300 (117,942) - 129,092

Unrestricted funds 3,558,463 2,811,851 (2,870,962) (31,358) 3,467,994

Total funds 3,678,197 2,939,151 (2,988,904) (31,358) 3,597,086

Balance 
1 April 
2018

Incoming 
resources

Resources 
expended 

Transfer 
between 

funds

Gain 
(loss) on 

investment 
& on 

exchange 
rate

Balance 
31 March 

2019

£ £ £ £ £ £

Restricted funds

Alliance Development 
grant 25,939 45,615 (44,944) - - 26,610

Recovery and 
reintegration from child 
sexual exploitation (RISE 
project)

- 6,038 (6,038) - - -

For works in the former 
Soviet Union and 
South East European 
Countries*

100,000 - - (100,000) - -

EveryChild 3,153 - - - - 3,153

For works in Scotland - 42,566 - - - 42,566

129,092 94,219 (50,982) (100,000) - 72,329

Unrestricted funds 3,467,994 3,225,796 (3,912,279) 100,000 45,624 2,927,135

Total funds 3,597,086 3,320,015 (3,963,261) - 45,624 2,999,464

* This was a legacy donation and was part of a restricted fund transferred to Family from 
EveryChild on asset transfer in 2016. However, a further review of the Will and advice 
received from our Legacy lawyers concluded that this should not be restricted and can 
be released to unrestricted funds.

16. Connected organisations

During the year, grants were made to a number of member organisations whose chief 
executive officers sit on the Board of Family. These members were Butterflies, Childlink, 
FOST, FSCE and HVS. The amounts awarded in the year can be found in note 3 (c).

17. Subsidiary companies and results

EveryChild, EveryChild Trading Limited, ECT and CCFGB

EveryChild (registered charity number 1089879 and company number 4320643; registered 
in England and Wales) EveryChild Trading Limited (formerly TROTC Limited) (Company 
number 2702857; registered in England and Wales), The European Children's Trust (ECT) 
(registered charity number 803070 and company number 2485690; registered in England 
and Wales) and The Christian Children’s Fund of Great Britain (CCFGB) (registered charity 
number 287545 and company number 1738194; registered in England and Wales) are 
subsidiaries of Family since 1 October 2016.

Two Trustees from the Board of Family for Every Child and the Chief Executive Officer 
of Family form the Board of Directors of Every Child, EveryChild Trading Limited, ECT 
and CCFGB. Family owns the whole of the ordinary share capital of EveryChild Trading 
Limited, consisting of 100 shares, and is the sole member of ECT and CCFGB all of which 
are limited by guarantee and have no share capital.
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During the year these companies were dormant and have no significant transactions 
to report.The relating SOFA and Balance sheets have £nil balances at the end of the 
period. Accordingly these subsidiaries have not been consolidated in the accounts on the 
grounds of immateriality.

Family Alliance

Family funded the set up and formation of a US-based not-for-profit organisation, called 
Family Alliance (Employer Identification Number (EIN) 46-5518730), in April 2014. Family 
Alliance’s charitable purpose is “providing supportive and caring family environments for 
children by funding learning and research services of organisations that establish and share 
with others best practices in children's care, and establish and maintain such programs 
worldwide”. This contributes to and is part of Family’s charitable objects. Family’s main 
aim in setting up Family Alliance is to widen its presence in the US philanthropic market 
and raise funds for Family to deliver its mission.

Family is the sole member of Family Alliance and has 100% of the voting power of the 
membership. It has full control over the by-laws of the organisation. One of Family’s trustees 
sits on the Board of Directors of Family Alliance, while Family's Chief Executive Officer 
and two support staff provide in kind support in the development and administration of 
the organisation.

The Board of Family Alliance has committed to contribute to the implementation of 
Family’s global strategic objectives through fundraising and external relations activities in 
the US, to raise the profile of children’s care issues, and to promote Family’s work.

Family provided net grant funding of £8,059 (2018 - £34,548) to Family Alliance during 
the year.

Family New Zealand Trust

In May 2017 Family funded the set up and formation of a New Zealand based charitable 
trust, called Family for Every Child New Zealand Trust (Family NZ) (Company No.2670471, 
Charity Reg. No. CC54645). Family NZ's charitable purpose is to promote the care, 
protection and development of children and young people who are without family care 
or who are at risk of losing family care. Family NZ's mission is to support the global work 
of Family to enhance the care of children worldwide. This will be achieved by mobilising 
supporters, donors and partners in New Zealand through fundraising activities and 
through building strategic partnerships in New Zealand.

One of Family’s trustees and two of Family's staff including the CEO are on the Board 
of Directors of Family NZ. Family has the power, through the trust deed of Family NZ, to 
remove trustees from the Board of Family NZ and Family's consent is required before 
Family NZ's Board appoint new Trustees. The Board of Family NZ has committed to 
contribute to the implementation of Family’s global strategic objectives through fundraising 
activities in NZ, to support and promote Family's work globally. Family's staff provide in 
kind support in the development and administration of the organisation and delivery of 
fundraising activities.

As discussed in the Trustees report, by the end of March 2019, over 7000 supporters 
were signed up giving a total of £439k during the financial year. Family NZ granted this 
income to Family to support its charitable activities.

Family provided net grant funding of £1,582k (2018 - £538k) to Family New Zealand Trust 
during the year.

A summary of the results of Family Alliance and Family New Zealand Trust, which have 
been consolidated into these financial statements, are shown below:

    a) Summary of the results of Family Alliance and Family New Zealand Trust

Family Alliance Family NZ

2019 total 2018 total 2019 total 2018 total

£ £ £ £

INCOME FROM: Donations

Family for Every Child 8,059 34,548 1,581,970 537,848

Individual Giving - - 439,149 50,555

8,059 34,548 2,021,118 588,403

EXPENDITURE ON:

Raising funds 22,909 21,664 1,571,011 492,540

Total charitable expenditure - - 439,149 38,787

Total resources expended 22,909 21,664 2,010,160 531,327

NET INCOMING (OUTGOING) 
RESOURCES (14,850) 12,884 10,958 57,076

Exchange rate gain (loss) 1,190 (4,520) 2,437 (1,316)

NET MOVEMENT IN FUNDS (13,660) 8,364 13,395 55,760

Fund balances at 

1 April 2018
14,220 5,856 55,760 -

FUND BALANCES AT 

31 MARCH 2019
560 14,220 69,155 55,760

    b) Balance sheet

Family Alliance Family NZ

2019 total 2018 total 2019 total 2018 total

£ £ £ £

ASSETS

Current Assets

Debtors, prepayments and accrued income - - 20,026 17,837

Cash and bank 2,560 16,220 127,243 39,149

2,560 16,220 147,269 56,986

LIABILITIES 2,000 2,000 78,107 1,226

Net assets 560 14,220 69,162 55,760

FUNDS

Total unrestricted funds 560 14,220 69,155 55,760

18. Gift in kind

There were no material in kind donations during the year (2018: £nil).
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Reference and administrative details

Board of Trustees

Chair
James Kofi Annan

Vice Chair
Isabel Crowley (Rita Panicker until 11 
March 2019)
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Yared Degefu 
Jane Dekker Brimacombe
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Abla El-Badry (from 11 March 2019)
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Omattie Madray (until 11 March 2019)
Blessing Mutama (from 11 March 2019)
Rita Panicker (until 11 March 2019)
Trevor Pearcy
Patrick Obonyo (from 25 June 2019)
Liudmila Sorokina 
Krishna Thapa

All trustees give their time voluntarily 
and no trustee benefits from the 
Charity. Trustee expenses in relation 
to Family are set out in note 5 to the 
financial statements.
 

Executive officers

Chief Executive Officer                      
Amanda Griffith

Head of Alliance Programmes
Andres Gomez de la Torre (from 4 
December 2018)

Head of Alliance Support & Governance
Laurie Smith

Head of Fundraising & Communications 
Andrea Thompson

Head of Joint Actions
Kate Riordan (until 19 November 2018)

Professional advisors 

Auditors
Crowe U.K. LLP
St. Bride's House
10 Salisbury Square
London
EC4Y 8EH 

Solicitors
Bates Wells Braithwaite
10 Queen Street Place
London
EC4R 1BE

Bankers
Lloyds Bank
39 Threadneedle Street
London
EC2R 8AU

Investment managers
Sarasin & Partners LLP
100 St. Paul’s Churchyard
London
EC4M 8BU

Registered office
75 King William Street
London
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Find out more about the work we do at:

www.familyforeverychild.org
info@familyforeverychild.org
@familyforeveryc




